

Project title:	Realising Increased Photosynthetic Efficiency to Increase Strawberry Yields
Project number:	SF/TF 170
Project leader:	Nicholas Doddrell
Report:	Annual Report 2020
Previous report:	N/A
Key staff:	Dr Andrew Simkin
	Professor Carol Wagstaff
Location of project:	NIAB EMR
Industry Representative:	Harriet Duncalfe
Date project commenced:	01/10/2018

DISCLAIMER

While the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board seeks to ensure that the information contained within this document is accurate at the time of printing, no warranty is given in respect thereof and, to the maximum extent permitted by law the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board accepts no liability for loss, damage or injury howsoever caused (including that caused by negligence) or suffered directly or indirectly in relation to information and opinions contained in or omitted from this document.

© Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board 2019. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any material form (including by photocopy or storage in any medium by electronic mean) or any copy or adaptation stored, published or distributed (by physical, electronic or other means) without prior permission in writing of the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board, other than by reproduction in an unmodified form for the sole purpose of use as an information resource when the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board or AHDB Horticulture is clearly acknowledged as the source, or in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988. All rights reserved.

All other trademarks, logos and brand names contained in this publication are the trademarks of their respective holders. No rights are granted without the prior written permission of the relevant owners.

AUTHENTICATION

We declare that this work was done under our supervision according to the procedures described herein and that the report represents a true and accurate record of the results obtained.

Nicholas Doddrell	
PhD Student	
NIAB EMR	
Signature	Date
Dr Andrew Simkin	
Group Leader	
NIAB EMR	
Signature	Date
Report authorised by:	
Report authorised by: [Name]	
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position]	
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation]	
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation] Signature	Date
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation] Signature	Date
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation] Signature	Date
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation] Signature [Name] [Position]	Date
Report authorised by: [Name] [Position] [Organisation] Signature [Name] [Position] [Organisation]	Date

CONTENTS

Grower Summary

Headline	1
Background	1
Summary	1
Financial Benefits	2
Action Points	2

Science Section

Introduction	3
Materials and methods	5
Results	9
Discussion	16
Conclusions	18
Knowledge and Technology Transfer	18
References	20
Appendices	23

GROWER SUMMARY

Headline

This project aims to improve strawberry fruit yield per hectare and strawberry fruit quality by increasing leaf photosynthetic performance through genetic manipulation of relevant enzymes.

Background

As the global population continues to rise and climate change threatens current crop yields, new solutions are required to increase agricultural and horticultural productivity. Early studies have suggested that photosynthetic efficiency is a limiting factor on maximised crop growth in C3 plants and thus represents a target for improving yield. Previous work has demonstrated that the overexpression of key regulatory steps in the Calvin Bensom Cycle (CBC) results in an increase in biomass yield and grain yield in tobacco and wheat respectively. This enhanced regeneration of the carbon acceptor RuBP (ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate) in the CBC is therefore demonstrative of a viable and effective method for improving photosynthetic efficiency across species. This work continues this line of research where rate-limiting enzyme activities in the CBC will be increased via genetic modification.

This work is being carried out in cultivated strawberry (*Fragaria x ananassa Duch.*), as current research in this area aims to understand how fundamental research in model plants, such as Tobacco and Arabidopsis, can be applied to crops. We will aim to determine if overexpression of CBC genes, independently or simultaneously, results in changes to total biomass, harvestable yield, and developmental characteristics. Another key area of my research is to ascertain if enhanced photosynthesis, increased total biomass and increased fruit yield affect strawberry fruit quality. We will investigate this using a range of analytical chemistry techniques to study if or how key flavour and nutritional compounds differ between genetically modified and unmodified lines.

Summary

In the first year of this project, plasmids (loops of DNA) containing the CBC enzyme SBPase (sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase) and the starch synthesis enzyme AGPase (adenosine diphosphate glucose pyrophosphorylase) were constructed. Insertion of these plasmids (transformation) into leaflet explants and subsequent explant regeneration are being tested in a range of cultivars. Regeneration has shown to be successful for the cultivar Calypso and the experimental line EMR 773. Successfully transformed plantlets of Calypso have been

now been generated after extensive troubleshooting of the transformation method. EMR 773 remains recalcitrant to regeneration, though transformation of the tissue is achievable.

Methods for extracting and analysing flavour components of strawberry fruit have also been developed in preparation for understanding how manipulating primary carbon metabolism in the leaf influences secondary carbon metabolism of strawberry fruit flavour. Initial results have identified the high sensitivity of flavour compounds to different extraction methods, fruit age and cultivar type, highlighting the need for strict controls in this field of analysis.

Experimental work for determining differences in expression (degree of activity of a gene) of photosynthetic genes is currently being carried out. This will give insight as to how photosynthesis is controlled in strawberry on a genetic level and provide vital data for further gene expression analysis later in the project.

Project progress has been delayed due to the impact of COVID-19.

Financial Benefits

While it is difficult to ascertain exact financial payoffs at this stage of the project, it is reasonable to hypothesise that the project will have similar benefits on fruit growth and quality of carbon dioxide enrichment, as this also improves atmospheric carbon assimilation. This method, employed extensively by the Dutch horticultural industry, has been shown to increase strawberry fruit soluble sugar by up to 20 % (Wang and Bunce, 2004) and roughly double fruit dry weight production per plant (Sun et al., 2012). These data imply that genetic manipulation may also be capable of improving both fruit yield and quality, which could result in large monetary returns for growers.

Action Points

There are no action points that must be taken at this stage.

SCIENCE SECTION

Introduction

With the global population predicted to exceed 10 billion by the year 2055 (United Nations DESA Population Division, 2019), it is imperative that research is undertaken to ensure stable food security for the future. This issue is further compounded by rising global temperatures; meta-analysis of wheat productivity data has shown a worrying trend of decreased grain yield with increasing temperature (Asseng et al., 2015). While it has previously been postulated that this loss of yield may be offset by the simultaneous rise in atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Parry et al., 2004), recent field trials of the C3 model plant soybean demonstrate that elevated atmospheric CO₂ is insufficient to rescue yield losses caused by drought conditions from increased temperature (Gray et al., 2016). In an effort to tackle this problem effectively, a large body of research has developed concerning improving carbon assimilation and photosynthesis to increase plant productivity and yield of both model and crop species (for comprehensive reviews see Simkin et al., 2019 and Weber and Bar-Even, 2019). It is hoped that this approach will create "future-proofed" plants, capable of feeding a growing populous while exploiting predicted environmental changes. This project will apply this approach to the horticultural crop strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa. Duch) by overexpressing rate limiting enzymes involved in carbon metabolism and photosynthesis to increase flux through desirable metabolic pathways and consequently increase yield (reviewed in Simkin et al. 2019). The total UK retail berry market was worth £1.27Bn for the year ending March 2018 (Kantar) with strawberry accounting for 47.4% of retail sales of UK berries. The berry market has grown by almost 33% (£400m) in the last 4 years and is projected to be worth £2Bn per annum by 2020. Increasing the yields and reducing the 'time to harvest' of strawberry crops will make a significant advance towards maintaining global and UK food resources for the 21st century as well as protecting diverse environments within the UK and Europe.

Crop yield can be defined by the yield equations:

$$P_n = S_t^* \varepsilon_i^* \varepsilon_c / K$$

$$Y_p = \eta^* P_n$$

where Y_p defines the yield potential, η defines the harvest index (i.e. biomass partitioned into the harvestable plant structures), P_n defines the primary production of biomass, S_t defines the incident solar radiation over a crop, ε_i defines the efficiency of light interception by the crop, ε_c defines the efficiency of conversion of intercepted light into biomass and K defines the energy content of the harvestable biomass (Long et al., 2006). It has long been established that several of these parameters are nearing their theoretical maximum. In a review by Zhu et al., 2010, data from Morgan et al., 2005 and Dermody et al., 2008 on field grown soybean was analysed to calculate the harvest index, conversion efficiency and interception efficiency of the crop. Both harvest index and interception efficiency were found to be near their theoretical maxima of ~ 0.9 and ~ 0.6 , however conversion efficiency was $\sim 30\%$ of its theoretical maximum of ~ 0.1 . This reveals how conventional breeding has struggled to achieve the theoretical maximum conversion efficiency and therefore carbon assimilation is a major limitation on crop yield. This leaves genetic modification as the best approach to improve on this major barrier to maximised yields.

While several approaches exist to improve photosynthetic efficiency, this project focusses on overexpressing rate-limiting enzymes of the Calvin-Benson Cycle (CBC) and other enzymes that also improve photosynthetic parameters when overexpressed. This method has been demonstrated to work across various model and crop species for the CBC enzymes SBPase (sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase, EC 3.1.3.37, Ding et al., 2016; Driever et al., 2017; Lefebvre et al., 2005; Rosenthal et al., 2011) and FBPA (fructose bisphosphate aldolase, EC 4.1.2.13, Uematsu et al., 2012). Manipulation of photorespiration has also been shown to improve photosynthetic efficiency (Lopez-Calcagno et al., 2018; Timm et al., 2012, 2015), as has manipulation of photosynthetic electron transport (Chang et al., 2017; Chida et al., 2007; Ermakova et al., 2019; Simkin et al., 2017b; Yadav et al., 2018) and the expression of the bacterial carbon transporter ICTB (Hay et al., 2017; Lieman-Hurwitz et al., 2003, 2005).

Manipulation of several of these targets simultaneously was found to further enhance photosynthesis and growth more than manipulating a single target (Gong et al., 2015; Simkin et al., 2015, 2017a). in one study, in which SBPase, FBPA and ICTB were simultaneously overexpressed in the model plant Tobacco, plant dry weight more than doubled (103% increase) compared to wild type in the line overexpressing all 3 genes. Plants overexpressing just SBPase or ICTB had dry weight increases compared to wild type of 34% and 71% respectively – still impressive gains, but less than that achieved by manipulation of multiple targets (Simkin et al., 2015). As such, multigene manipulation is being employed in this project in an effort to maximise photosynthetic efficiency and productivity.

Two major challenges are presented in applying this work to strawberry: sink limited growth of fruit and the impact of manipulating photosynthesis on fruit flavour and quality.

Work by Hansen, P. 1989 compared fruit development of control plants and plants which had half of their flowers removed. Unsurprisingly, reduction in flower number reduced the number of fruits. More interestingly however, this did not correlate with an increase in the size of fruits (Hansen, 1989). With a reduced number of sink tissues (i.e. fruits) available, if strawberry were source-limited these sink tissues would grow larger. This is not the case, providing

4

evidence that strawberry fruit growth is a sink limited process. Since this project works on improving source capacity by increase photosynthetic carbon assimilation, it is important that sink capacity is also manipulated for maximum benefit of source manipulations to be realised. While several approaches exist to manipulate source-sink allocation by genetic engineering (see Sonnewald and Fernie, 2018 for a current opinion piece on the subject), the most extensively studied target is AGPase, the enzyme that irreversibly commits Calvin Cycle products to starch synthesis and catalyses the following reaction:

Glucose-1-phosphate + ATP \longrightarrow ADPglucose + PP_i

where ATP is adenosine triphosphate, ADPglucose is adenosine diphosphate glucose and PP_i is pyrophosphate (Tuncel and Okita, 2013). This is a particularly interesting target for this project, since Zhu et al., 2007 predicted that AGPase was needed in higher concentrations in photosynthetic tissue for maximum photosynthetic efficiency. As such, AGPase overexpression could simultaneously improve source-sink relations to ensure biomass is allocated to the growing sink tissue and improve photosynthetic efficiency.

Strawberry flavour is highly complex, with reviews reporting over 300 reported volatiles across the current literature (Pérez and Sanz, 2010; Yan et al., 2018; Zabetakis and Holden, 1997). Further studies report that these volatiles do not contribute equally to the flavour composition of fruits and that variance in volatile composition is dependent on a range of environmental factors, cultivar type and post-harvest treatments (Forney et al., 2000). Due to volatile biosynthesis being highly sensitive to even small changes, it is hypothesised that manipulation of primary carbon metabolism will affect the volatile composition of transgenic fruit compared to WT cultivars. In addition, strawberry flavour is strongly influenced by sugar and organic acid concentrations and the presence or absence of different amino acids and phenolic compounds, adding an important non-volatile dimension that may also be influenced by transformations.

It is clear that increased photosynthetic efficiency has great potential for improved plant growth and that transgenic approaches are a viable method of achieving this. Applying this to strawberry will have implications on carbon allocation, flavour and harvest time in addition to changes in growth and this project will account for these. From considering the literature, it was decided that transformations with SBPase and AGPase would be studied first as together these genes appear to have the greatest potential for improving strawberry yields.

Materials and methods

Strawberry micropropagation and growth conditions

Stocks of cultivated strawberry (*Fragaria x ananassa Duch.* cv. Calypso, EMR-773, EMR-2434-1) were donated by NIAB EMR. Stocks maintained on semi-solid Shoot Propagation Medium (SPM) and subbed every 4 weeks. Stocks bulked by 4 week growth on Shoot Multiplication Medium (SMM). Stocks grown in growth chamber at 20°C under ~68 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity with a 16/8 photoperiod. All other conditions were ambient. See Appendix 1 for media recipes.

cDNA synthesis

Arabidopsis thaliana was grown at 120 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ with a 16/8 photoperiod. RNA was extracted from young developing leaves as directed by Macherey-Nagel NuceloSpin RNA kit. Forward SBPase primer: CACCATGGAGACCAGCATCGCGTGC.

Reverse SBPase primer: GTTTCTAAGCGGTAACTCCAATGG.

Forward AGPase primer: CACCATGGTGGTCTCTGCTGACTGC.

Reverse AGPase primer: CTTAAAAGTATCATATCACAACTCC.

Synthesis and subsequent amplification of cDNAs was performed as directed by Invitrogen SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase kit. Samples were purified as directed by Macherey-Nagel NucleoSpin Gel and PCR Clean-up kit. All results were confirmed via gel electrophoresis using an agarose gel (0.75 %, TAE buffer) stained with gel red (10 µL L⁻¹).

Cloning

Purified cDNAs were cloned into the pENTR/D-TOPO vector as directed by Invitrogen pENTR/D-TOPO Cloning Kit (see supplementary Figure 1 for vector map).

Chemical transformation of Escherichia coli

Stock of *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) stored in glycerol (25 %) was thawed on ice. Cloned plasmid (3 μ L) was added to bacteria and the mixture rested on ice for 5 minutes. Samples were then heated in a water bath at 42°C for 45 seconds, followed by a 1 minute incubation on ice. High salt LB broth (250 mL) was added to cells. Cells plated on high salt LB plates with kanamycin (50 μ g mL⁻¹) and incubated at 37°C overnight. Successful transformation was confirmed using colony PCR (see below).

Colony PCR

Individual colonies of *E. coli* were collected with a sterile pipette tip and touched against a high salt LB plate with kanamycin (50 µg mL⁻¹) before being added to a PCR mix (see master mix recipe in Appendix 2). Plate was incubated at 37°C overnight, with successful colony growth indicating successful transformation. PCR was ran as follows: 95°C for 2 minutes; 45 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, followed by 55°C for 30 seconds, followed by 72°C for 1 minute 45 seconds; 72°C for 10 minutes; 15°C until taken out of cycler. PCR results were confirmed

via gel electrophoresis using an agarose gel (0.75 %, TAE buffer) stained with gel red (10 μ L L⁻¹).

Golden Gate assembly

Level 0 genetic elements and Level 1 destination vectors donated by the University of Essex (see plasmid maps in **Supplementary Figure 2**). Successful cloning was confirmed by whiteorange selection of transformed *E. coli* (see above protocol) and gel electrophoresis on agarose gel (0.75 %, TAE buffer) stained with GelGreen.

Sequencing

Plasmids were extracted and purified from transformed *E. coli* as directed by Macherey-Nagel NucleoSpin Plasmid Easy Pure kit. Plasmid minipreps were prepared as directed by Eurofins Genomics LIGHTRUN Sequencing Sample Requirements. Samples were sequenced by Eurofins Genomics.

Chemical transformation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens

Stock of *A. tumefaciens* (strain EHA105) stored in glycerol (25%) was thawed on ice. Plasmid of interest (1 μ L, 100 ng mL⁻¹) was added to stock and rested on ice for 5 minutes. Mix was frozen in liquid nitrogen for 5 minutes and thawed in a water bath at 37°C for 5 minutes. Mix was added to low salt LB broth (1 mL) and shaken at 28°C for 2 hours. Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000 g for 2 minutes and re-suspended in low salt LB broth (100 μ L). Bacterial suspension was plated on low salt agar plates with kanamycin (50 μ g mL⁻¹) and incubated at 28°C for 48 hours. Plates exhibiting successful colony growth were sealed with parafilm and stored at 4°C.

Transformation of strawberry explants

Protocol adapted from Schaart, 2014. Using a sterile pipette tip, individual transformed colonies of *A. tumefaciens* were collected and added to low salt LB broth (5 mL) with kanamycin (50 μ g mL⁻¹) and rifampicin (25 μ g mL⁻¹). Samples were shaken at 28°C overnight. Starter culture (1 mL) was added to low salt LB broth (20 mL) with kanamycin (50 μ g mL⁻¹) and shaken at 28°C overnight. Cultures were pelleted ay 2000 xg for 10 minutes. A suspension medium of filter-sterilised MS with vitamins (4.4 g L⁻¹) supplemented with glucose (30 g L⁻¹) and acetosyringone (100 μ M) and pH adjusted to 5.2 was made. Bacterial pellets were re-suspended in sufficient suspension medium to give OD 600 nm 0.2 – 0.3. Young expanding leaves of 4 week old strawberry plants were separated into leaflets and scored to produce ~2 mm thick strips along the leaf edge. Scored leaflet explants were submerged in the inoculum suspension for 10 – 15 minutes. Treated explants were blotted on sterile filter paper and placed, abaxial face up, on a sterile filter paper on

Shoot Regeneration Medium (SRM, see recipe in Appendix 1). Explants were stored in the dark for 4 days. Explants were then subbed to fresh media without selection and stored in light under ~68 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity with a 16/8 photoperiod for a week. Explants were then transferred to SRM plates containing hygromycin (25 μ g mL⁻¹) or bialaphos (5 μ g mL⁻¹) (depending on the selectable marker present in the plasmid backbone) and TCA (400 μ g mL⁻¹). Plates were sealed with Parafilm and placed in a growth chamber at 20°C under ~68 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity with a 16/8 photoperiod. All other conditions were ambient. Media was changed every 4 weeks to account for hormone degradation.

Regeneration of strawberry explants

Transformed explants were transferred to fresh SRM with selectable markers every 4 weeks, abaxial face up. Control explants were cultured without selectable markers. Growing calli were divided as appropriate to maintain contact with the culture medium. Callus visible after approximately 2 months. Explants were excised from callus as appropriate and moved onto Fragaria Regeneration Medium (FRAG-R) to encourage root induction. Fully regenerated plants were transferred to SPM without selectable markers.

Strawberry sugars and acids extraction

Newly bought strawberries (n = 5) and 2 day old strawberries stored at 4°C (n=5) were hulled and sliced thinly (cv. Eve's Delight, Sweet Eve). Chopped strawberries were placed in sealed bags and freeze-dried over several days. Freeze-dried samples were milled to a powder. Fresh samples (n = 5 berries) were blended in 4 parts water by weight. Freeze-dried strawberry powder (0.2 g) or fresh blended strawberry (0.2 g) was added to hydrochloric acid solution (10 mL, 0.01 M) and the mix stirred for 30 minutes at RTP. An aliquot of mixture (1.5 mL) was taken and centrifuged at maximum speed for 30 minutes. Samples were filtered through a 0.22 µm filter and stored at 4°C.

Strawberry phenolic compounds extraction

Freeze-dried strawberry (50 mg, cv. Eve's Delight, Sweet Eve, see "Strawberry sugars and acids extraction" for freeze-drying protocol) was added to aqueous methanol (1.5 mL, 90 % v/v) on ice and vortexed for 10 seconds. Samples were sonicated at ambient temperature for 20 minutes then centrifuged at maximum speed for 20 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was filtered through a 0.22 μ m filter and samples stored at 4°C.

Strawberry volatiles extraction

Fresh strawberries (n = 5, cv. Eve's Delight, Sweet Eve) were blended. Blended strawberry (0.2 g) or freeze-dried strawberry (0.2 g, see "Strawberry sugars and acids extraction" for

freeze-drying protocol) were added to calcium chloride solution (2 mL, saturated) on the day of processing.

Chemical analysis

Extracted compounds were analysed by HPLC (sugars, acids), UPLC (sugars, phenolics) or GC-MS (volatiles) using generic protocols.

RNA extraction of strawberry

Fully expanded non-senescent leaves of strawberry were taken at 4 weeks and 8 weeks after subbing for varieties Calypso and EMR-773. RNA was extracted using the Machery-Nagel NucleoSpin RNA Plant and Fungi Kit.

Results



Initial cloning efforts failed to produce the desired product

Figure 1: Gel electrophoresis scans showing progression of cloning experiments. **A:** Purified cDNAs obtained from reverse transcription of target gene mRNA; **i:** AGPase; **ii:** SBPase; **iii:** SBPase positive control. **B:** SBPase CDS fragments amplified from transformed *E. coli.* **C:** AGPase CDS fragments amplified from transformed *E. coli.*

RNA was extracted from aerial tissue of *A. thaliana* and cDNAs of SBPase and AGPase generated via reverse transcription. SBPase cDNA was 1182 nt and AGPase cDNA was 1596 nt. cDNAs were amplified and purified with this result being quantified via gel electrophoresis (**Figure 1A**). Following cloning of these fragments into a construct, *E. coli* were transformed with the construct and colony PCR was used to confirm construct insertion (**Figures 1B and C**). Smearing on these latter two gels was attributed to overloading the gel with bacterial DNA.

However, due to several issues with this approach (see discussion), Golden Gate cloning was adopted instead.

Cloning via Golden Gate Assembly successfully generated desired constructs

Single gene constructs containing AtSBPase and AtAGPase coding sequences (CDS(s)) were donated by the University of Essex. The former constructs (**Supplementary Figure 2A and B**) contain glufosinate and hygromycin resistance genes for plant selection respectively with the SBPase CDS downstream of the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S (CaMV 35S) promoter in both cases. The latter constructs (**Supplementary Figure 2C and D**) contain the AGPase CDS downstream of the 35S promoter and RuBisCO small subunit promoter (RbcS) respectively. Collectively, this suite of constructs enables study of pleiotropic single gene overexpression effects with the possibility of comparing tissue specific and non-specific expression. Multigene constructs containing AtSBPase downstream of the 35S promoter and AtAGPase downstream of the 35S (**Supplementary Figure 2E**) or RbcS (**Supplementary Figure 2F**) promoter were generated through Golden Gate assembly. Successful cloning of these constructs was confirmed by gel electrophoresis and sequencing.

Strawberry varieties Calypso and EMR 773-5 were successfully regenerated from leaflet explants



Figure 2: Timeline of strawberry regeneration from leaflet explants to separated strawberry shoots.
A: Scored leaflet explants from 4 week old strawberry plants (Calypso cultivar shown) on shoot regeneration medium (SRM). B: Explants at 4 weeks of growth on SRM (Calypso left, EMR 773 right).
C: Explants at 12 weeks of growth on SRM (Calypso right, EMR 773 left). D: Separated regenerated strawberry shoots (EMR 773 cultivar shown) on shoot propagation medium (SPM).

Regeneration of leaflet explants of Calypso and EMR 773-5 cultivars was demonstrated through growth on SRM without selectable markers over 12 weeks (see **Figure 2**). Callus induction was visible after 2 weeks on medium (not shown) with differentiated leaf and root tissue visible after 12 weeks of growth. Callus was divided to separate developing plantlets and moved to SPM. Phenotypically normal plant differentiation was visible 2 weeks after division and transfer to SPM. Transformed leaflet explants and the experimental line 2434-1 developed to the callus stage but no further leaf development occurred.

Transformed plantlets of Calypso successfully regenerated from leaflet explants



Figure 3: Timeline of strawberry regeneration of transformed callus from leaflet explants to separated strawberry shoots. **A:** Scored leaflet explants at 12 weeks old on shoot regeneration medium (SRM) supplemented with hygromycin. **B:** Transgenic strawberry shoot on Fragaria rooting medium (FRAG-R).

Strawberry leaflets transformed with plasmid F were grown on hygromycin selection (See **Figure 3**). Callus development was observed 8 weeks after transformation. Initial plantlet development was observed 5 months after transformation. Plantlets have since developed on callus consistently at different rates. Large plantlets were excised from the callus and planted onto Fragaria rooting medium (FRAG-R) to encourage root induction.





Figure 4: Comparison of transformation efficiency of Agrobacterium strains EHA105 and AGL1 for strawberry cultivars Calypso and EMR-773. Different letters above bars represent statistically significantly different results (p < 0.05).

Extensive troubleshooting has been performed to improve the strawberry transformation protocol. Callus induction was only achieved once a week long light exposure step following dark incubation was introduced to the protocol. In addition, only the cultivar Calypso has so far shown successful explant regeneration. Two different Agrobacterium strains have also been tested for their capacity to successfully transfect Calypso and EMR-773 (see **Figure 4**), with AGL1 appearing to have greater capacity to transfect strawberry leaflets than EHA105, though transfection is achievable with reasonably high efficiencies with both bacterial strains.

Fructose is the predominant sugar in strawberry fruit and fruit glucose concentration increases with storage time

UPLC analysis was performed on the late everbearer variety "Eve's Delight" to determine fruit concentration of 3 major sugars – glucose, fructose and sucrose. Significant differences in the concentration of these sugars were found, with fructose being the most abundant and sucrose the least (**Figure 5A**). Analysis of freshly bought fruits and strawberries kept in cold storage for 2 days identified a significant increase in fruit glucose concentration with storage time (**Figure 5B**), however no significant difference in sucrose or fructose concentrations could be determined (**Figure 5C and D**).



Figure 5: Box plots showing sugar concentration data for cv. Eve's Delight. n = 4 - 6. A: Concentrations of the 3 major sugars in strawberry. B: Concentration of glucose in freshly bought and 2 day old strawberries. C: Concentration of fructose in freshly bought and 2 day old strawberries. D: Concentration of sucrose in freshly bought and 2 day old strawberries.

Screen Hits		Near Misses			
	Molecular			Molecular	
Compound Name	Weight	Intensity	Compound Name	Weight	Intensity
Catechin	288.9	1122264	Procyanidin B2	577	985144
Biochainin A Methy	4				
Ether	297	162101	Luteolin-7-glucoside	447	762130
Biochainin A	282.9	22680	4-hydroxybenzoic acid	137.3	58951
Caffeine	194.9	18453	Quercitin neg	300.9	57301
2,4-dihydroxybenzoic					
acid	153	16497	Neochlorogenic acid	354.3	15499
Formononetin	266.9	16006			
4-CQA	353.1	15499			
Narigin	579.1	11724			
Diosmin	607.1	11203			

Strawberry fruit contains a significant repertoire of phenolic compounds

Figure 6: Table showing compounds identified in strawberry ("Screen Hits") and compounds closely related to unidentified compounds in the screen ("Near Misses"). Cv. Sweet Eve.

A general phenolic compound screen via UPLC identified catechin and biochainin A methyl ether as abundant phenolic compounds in strawberry fruit. Procyanidin B2 and luteolin-7-glucoside were identified as highly related compounds to other, currently unidentified, abundant phenolic compounds. Proanthocyanidins, a oligermeric compound group predmoninatly formed of catechins, have been identified as a major strawberry volatile group (Buendía et al., 2010). This may explain the presence of catechin as an identified volatiles and why procyanidin B2 was identified as a near miss. A full list of identified compounds can be found in **Figure 6**. Unfortunately, due to the lack of a standard to compare intensity, the concentration of these phenolic compounds cannot yet be determined.

Freeze-drying and cultivar type affect volatile repertoire of strawberry fruits



Figure 7: Venn diagrams showing the number of unique volatile compounds present in greater than trace quantities in cultivated strawberry. Compounds' LRIs quantified against a NIST database. 5 berries per sample, n= 3. **Red:** Fresh strawberry, cv. Sweet Eve. **Yellow:** Fresh strawberry, cv. Eve's Delight. **Green:** Freeze-dried strawberry, cv. Sweet Eve. **Blue:** Freeze-dried strawberry, cv. Eve's Delight. No compounds were identified as being common between fresh Sweet Eve and freeze-dried Eve's Delight and vice versa.

Volatile flavour components of fruits of fresh and freeze-dried cultivars "Sweet Eve" and "Eve's Delight" were analysed via GC-MS. Unique and shared aromatic compounds were counted and the distribution between the different varieties and treatments is shown in **Figure 7**. A number of unique compounds, primarily formed of methyl, butyl and octyl esters, were identified in the premium "Eve's Delight" cultivar compared to "Sweet Eve", however these

were lost after freeze-drying. Additionally, the premium variety contained mesifurane, a rare furanone that has been identified as being important for strawberry flavour (Ulrich et al., 1997). Seven compounds were identified as being shared between all fruits tested; primarily esters and the important terpene linalool. For a full list of volatiles identified, see **Appendix 3**.

Discussion

Transformation experiments

Plasmid construction via Golden Gate was successful while construction via the LR clonase reaction was not

Despite several repeated efforts and the use of multiple replacement kits from the supplier, the pENTR/D-TOPO kit was found to be unsuccessful for cloning of the cDNA fragments obtained from *A. thaliana* mRNA. This was attributed to a batch of the kits being faulty as the supplier had received several complaints of this nature from multiple labs. While the graphics in **Figure 1** looked promising initially, sequencing revealed these to be false positives. This highlights the importance of using multiple methods of verification when developing plasmids to ensure construct generation has been completely successful. Golden Gate cloning was found to be a rapid and highly successful alternative.

Moving forward, new constructs will be generated containing genes coding for green fluorescent protein (GFP) and β -glucuronidase (GUS) under the control of promoters derived from strawberry Calvin-Benson Cycle enzymes. This is to enable development of a toolbox of tissue specific promoters for use in strawberry, similar to work performed by Alotaibi et al., (2018) in wheat. Gateway Binary Vectors (pGWBs) with these genes are readily available for this cloning work (Nakagawa et al., 2007; Nakamura et al., 2010)

Regeneration and transformation of strawberry leaflets is achievable in Calypso and EMR 773-5 cultivars

Twelve weeks of growth on SRM was sufficient for regeneration of new leaves in both cultivars. After transplanting onto SPM, further growth and differentiation of stem and root tissue was observed. This demonstrates that these cultivars are suitable choices for transformation experiments, although further study with regenerating more commercially relevant lines would be beneficial for greater understanding of real world applications of this research. Tissue culture methods are not predicted to affect photosynthetic parameters as current literature has not identified differences between plants grown *in vitro* and *ex vitro* (Borkowska, 2001) although differences in leaf photosynthetic activity may be present during

weening (Grout and Millam, 1985). Regardless, it would be prudent to consider tissue culture effects on strawberry photosynthesis to capture any changes that may be effected.

The strawberry transformation protocol has been fine-tuned and is now producing transformed plantlets for the cultivar Calypso

Use of light exposure to aid callus induction indicates the important role light plays in strawberry organogenesis (reviewed here: Schaart, 2011). Further exploration with this may aid in further improving the efficiency of this protocol for regeneration of plantlets, especially in the EMR-773 variety. Reduced light intensity may be a possible avenue for improved regeneration as suggested by Schaart, 2011. Transformation has been shown to be successful for both the EHA105 and AGL1 strains of Agrobacterium, with a range of efficiencies of 40.3 % to 73.8 %. Despite the relatively lower efficiency of EHA105 compared to AGL1, this strain still exhibits high efficiency for a plant transformation protocol and is therefore still of use in experiments involving strawberry transformation.

Flavour experiments

Strawberry flavour compounds are highly sensitive to cultivar type, shelf life and treatment conditions

Preliminary strawberry flavour data has revealed that these experiments must be tightly controlled. It is unsurprising that different cultivars have different flavour profiles, though the greater aroma repertoire of Eve's Delight when compared to Sweet Eve remains striking (see Figure 7). Increased glucose content in older strawberries suggested degradation of the disaccharide sucrose. Loss of sucrose over time has been observed previously in strawberry fruit (Schwieterman et al., 2014; Watson, 2002), however this has also been accompanied by a reduction in monosaccharide hexose sugars. It is possible that this trend may emerge more clearly beyond shelf-life (not tested in this experiment) or would be visible with a greater number of samples – the margin of error in the experiment was large (see **Figure 5**), possibly due to pick-to-pick variation of individual fruit sugars. Future work on fruit sugars should consider these points. Two different treatments of strawberry were tested when examining aroma profile: no treatment (i.e. fresh) and freeze-drying. Freeze-drying reduced the bouquet of volatiles that could be detected in Eve's Delight and did not add any new volatiles. This suggests that freeze-drying results in degradation of the extensive compliment of esters present in the fresh samples. This effect has been reported in the literature for deep frozen strawberries (Douillard and Guichard, 1990), so it is possible that freeze-drying has a similar impact. Interestingly, while some volatiles are lost during freeze-drying, Sweet Eve freezedried samples gained some detectable volatiles. Included in these were hexanoic acid and octanal, a carboxylic acid and an aldehyde respectively. These may be breakdown products

of esters, further supporting the idea that freeze-drying breaks down esters in the strawberry fruit, although a lack of ester hydrolysis products in the freeze-dried samples of Eve's Delight does provide evidence against this theory. Taken together, it is clear that flavour compounds are highly sensitive and experiments in this field must be tightly controlled.

Conclusions

The experiments carried out so far lay the groundwork for further more extensive investigations:

- Reliable methods have been established with regards to genetics, tissue culture and flavour chemistry which can be used throughout the remainder of the project.
- Early results have confirmed that Calypso and EMR 773-5 are suitable cultivars for transformation and regeneration studies in strawberry and methods for these purposes has been extensively fine-tuned. This has resulted in successful transformed plantlet generation for the Calypso cultivar.
- Experimentation on strawberry flavour must be tightly controlled.

The next steps for this work will be the successful transformation of strawberry leaflets with all constructs and for both varieties and to begin investigations into RNA expression of photosynthetic genes. This work will hopefully reveal exciting insights into the relationship between photosynthesis and fruit quality on a fundamental level and could have a significant impact on the effort to produce strawberry varieties with both increased yield and better flavour in an applied context.

Knowledge and Technology Transfer

Presentations

Oct 2019	CTP Winter Meeting: Presented project update for PhD consortium.
Nov 2019	CTP Induction: Presented "Life as a PhD Student at NIAB EMR" for new CTP PhD students
Dec 2019	GGB Department Meeting: Presented an analysis of a review article as a journal club.

Jan 2020	AHDB Crops PhD Conference: Presented project outline for AHDB funded
	students and members, receiving a commendation from the judges for quality
	of presentation.
Apr 2020	PhD Meeting: Presented project update for other PhD students.
May 2020	GGB Department Meeting: Presented virtual project update for department.
Aug 2020	CTP Summer Meeting: Presented virtual project update for PhD consortium.
Sep 2020	SoCoBio DTP Inductions: Led seminars as a student PhD mentor for
	incoming PhD students to answer questions on PhD life from a student
	perspective.
Oct 2020	CTP FCR Inductions: Presented on student life for incoming PhD Students.
Oct 2020	GGB Department Meeting: Presented virtual journal club

Conferences

Oct 2019	CTP Winter Meeting: Presented project update for PhD consortium.
Nov 2019	CTP Induction: Presented "Life as a PhD Student at NIAB EMR" for new CTP PhD students
Nov 2019	AHDB Soft Fruit Day: Conference attendee and presented poster.
Jan 2020	LGBT STEMinar, University of Birmingham: Conference attendee.
Jan 2020	AHDB Crops PhD Conference: Presented project outline for AHDB funded students and members, receiving a commendation from the judges for quality of presentation.
Aug 2020	CTP Summer Meeting: Presented virtual project update for PhD consortium.
Aug 2020	The STEM Village Virtual Symposium: Conference attendee. Virtual conference designed for knowledge dissemination between LGBT researchers in STEM.
Sep 2020	SoCoBio DTP Inductions: Led seminars as a student PhD mentor for incoming PhD students to answer questions on PhD life from a student perspective.

Oct 2020 CTP FCR Inductions: Presented on student life and ran social event for incoming PhD students.

References

- Alotaibi, S. S., Sparks, C. A., Parry, M. A. J., Simkin, A. J., and Raines, C. A. (2018). Identification of leaf promoters for use in transgenic wheat. *Plants*. doi:10.3390/plants7020027.
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Martre, P., Rötter, R. P., Lobell, D. B., Cammarano, D., et al. (2015). Rising temperatures reduce global wheat production. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* doi:10.1038/nclimate2470.
- Borkowska, B. (2001). Morphological and physiological characteristics of micropropagated strawberry plants rooted in vitro or ex vitro. *Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam).* doi:10.1016/S0304-4238(00)00230-2.
- Buendía, B., Gil, M. I., Tudela, J. A., Gady, A. L., Medina, J. J., Soria, C., et al. (2010). HPLC-MS analysis of proanthocyanidin oligomers and other phenolics in 15 strawberry cultivars. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* doi:10.1021/jf9030597.
- Chang, H., Huang, H. E., Cheng, C. F., Ho, M. H., and Ger, M. J. (2017). Constitutive expression of a plant ferredoxin-like protein (pflp) enhances capacity of photosynthetic carbon assimilation in rice (Oryza sativa). *Transgenic Res.* doi:10.1007/s11248-016-0005-y.
- Chida, H., Nakazawa, A., Akazaki, H., Hirano, T., Suruga, K., Ogawa, M., et al. (2007). Expression of the algal cytochrome c6 gene in Arabidopsis enhances photosynthesis and growth. *Plant Cell Physiol.* doi:10.1093/pcp/pcm064.
- Dermody, O., Long, S. P., McConnaughay, K., and DeLucia, E. H. (2008). How do elevated CO2 and O3 affect the interception and utilization of radiation by a soybean canopy? *Glob. Chang. Biol.* doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01502.x.
- Ding, F., Wang, M., Zhang, S., and Ai, X. (2016). Changes in SBPase activity influence photosynthetic capacity, growth, and tolerance to chilling stress in transgenic tomato plants. *Sci. Rep.* doi:10.1038/srep32741.
- Douillard, C., and Guichard, E. (1990). The aroma of strawberry (Fragaria ananassa): Characterisation of some cultivars and influence of freezing. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* doi:10.1002/jsfa.2740500410.
- Driever, S. M., Simkin, A. J., Alotaibi, S., Fisk, S. J., Madgwick, P. J., Sparks, C. A., et al. (2017). Increased sbpase activity improves photosynthesis and grain yield in wheat grown in greenhouse conditions. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 372. doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0384.
- Ermakova, M., Lopez-Calcagno, P. E., Raines, C. A., Furbank, R. T., and von Caemmerer, S. (2019). Overexpression of the Rieske FeS protein of the Cytochrome b6f complex increases C4 photosynthesis in Setaria viridis. *Commun. Biol.* doi:10.1038/s42003-019-0561-9.
- Forney, C. F., Kalt, W., and Jordan, M. A. (2000). The composition of strawberry aroma is influenced by cultivar, maturity, and storage. in *HortScience*.
- Gong, H. Y., Li, Y., Fang, G., Hu, D. H., Jin, W. Bin, Wang, Z. H., et al. (2015). Transgenic rice expressing lctb and FBP/Sbpase derived from cyanobacteria exhibits enhanced photosynthesis and mesophyll conductance to CO2. *PLoS One* 10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140928.
- Gray, S. B., Dermody, O., Klein, S. P., Locke, A. M., McGrath, J. M., Paul, R. E., et al. (2016). Intensifying drought eliminates the expected benefits of elevated carbon dioxide for soybean. *Nat. Plants.* doi:10.1038/nplants.2016.132.
- Grout, B. W. W., and Millam, S. (1985). Photosynthetic development of micropropagated strawberry plantlets following transplanting. *Ann. Bot.* doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a086872.
- Hansen, P. (1989). "Source-sink relations in fruits IV. Fruit number and fruit grown in strawberries," in International Strawberry Symposium, eds. G. J. Galletta, J. L. Maas, and P. Rosati (Cesena: Acta Horticulturae), 377–382.
- Hay, W. T., Bihmidine, S., Mutlu, N., Hoang, K. Le, Awada, T., Weeks, D. P., et al. (2017). Enhancing

soybean photosynthetic CO2assimilation using a cyanobacterial membrane protein, ictB. *J. Plant Physiol.* 212, 58–68. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2017.02.003.

- Lefebvre, S., Lawson, T., Zakhleniuk, O. V, Lloyd, J. C., Raines, C. A., and Fryer, M. (2005). Increased sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase activity in transgenic tobacco plants stimulates photosynthesis and growth from an early stage in development. *Plant Physiol.* 138, 451–60. doi:10.1104/pp.104.055046.
- Lieman-Hurwitz, J., Asipov, L., Rachmilevitch, S., Marcus, Y., and Kaplan, A. (2005). Expression of cyanobacterial ictB in higher plants enhanced photosynthesis and growth. *Plant Responses to Air Pollut. Glob. Chang.*, 133–139. doi:10.1007/4-431-31014-2_15.
- Lieman-Hurwitz, J., Rachmilevitch, S., Mittler, R., Marcus, Y., and Kaplan, A. (2003). Enhanced photosynthesis and growth of transgenic plants that express ictB, a gene involved in HCO3-accumulation in cyanobacteria. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 1, 43–50. doi:10.1046/j.1467-7652.2003.00003.x.
- Long, S. P., Zhu, X. G., Naidu, S. L., and Ort, D. R. (2006). Can improvement in photosynthesis increase crop yields? *Plant, Cell Environ.* doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01493.x.
- Lopez-Calcagno, P. E., Fisk, S., Brown, K. L., Bull, S. E., South, P. F., and Raines, C. A. (2018). Overexpressing the H-protein of the glycine cleavage system increases biomass yield in glasshouse and field grown transgenic tobacco plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* doi:10.1111/pbi.12953.
- Morgan, P. B., Bollero, G. A., Nelson, R. L., Dohleman, F. G., and Long, S. P. (2005). Smaller than predicted increase in aboveground net primary production and yield of field-grown soybean under fully open-air [CO2] elevation. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001017.x.
- Nakagawa, T., Kurose, T., Hino, T., Tanaka, K., Kawamukai, M., Niwa, Y., et al. (2007). Development of series of gateway binary vectors, pGWBs, for realizing efficient construction of fusion genes for plant transformation. J. Biosci. Bioeng. doi:10.1263/jbb.104.34.
- Nakamura, S., Mano, S., Tanaka, Y., Ohnishi, M., Nakamori, C., Araki, M., et al. (2010). Gateway binary vectors with the bialaphos resistance gene, bar, as a selection marker for plant transformation. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* doi:10.1271/bbb.100184.
- Parry, M. L., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Livermore, M., and Fischer, G. (2004). Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socio-economic scenarios. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2003.10.008.
- Pérez, A. G., and Sanz, C. (2010). "Strawberry Flavor," in *Handbook of Fruit and Vegetable Flavors* doi:10.1002/9780470622834.ch23.
- Rosenthal, D. M., Locke, A. M., Khozaei, M., Raines, C. A., Long, S. P., and Ort, D. R. (2011). Overexpressing the C3photosynthesis cycle enzyme Sedoheptulose-1-7 Bisphosphatase improves photosynthetic carbon gain and yield under fully open air CO2fumigation (FACE). *BMC Plant Biol.* doi:10.1186/1471-2229-11-123.
- Schaart, J. (2011). Review of Factors Affecting Organogenesis, Somatic Embryogenesis and Agrobacterium tumefaciens-Mediated Transformation of Strawberry. *Genes, Genomes and Genomics*.
- Schaart, J. (2014). Agrobacterium-mediated Transformation of Strawberry. *Bio-Protocol.* doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Schwieterman, M. L., Colquhoun, T. A., Jaworski, E. A., Bartoshuk, L. M., Gilbert, J. L., Tieman, D. M., et al. (2014). Strawberry flavor: Diverse chemical compositions, a seasonal influence, and effects on sensory perception. *PLoS One.* doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088446.
- Simkin, A. J., Lopez-Calcagno, P. E., Davey, P. A., Headland, L. R., Lawson, T., Timm, S., et al. (2017a). Simultaneous stimulation of sedoheptulose 1,7-bisphosphatase, fructose 1,6bisphophate aldolase and the photorespiratory glycine decarboxylase-H protein increases CO2assimilation, vegetative biomass and seed yield in Arabidopsis. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 15, 805– 816. doi:10.1111/pbi.12676.
- Simkin, A. J., López-Calcagno, P. E., and Raines, C. A. (2019). Feeding the world: Improving photosynthetic efficiency for sustainable crop production. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/ery445.

- Simkin, A. J., McAusland, L., Headland, L. R., Lawson, T., and Raines, C. A. (2015). Multigene manipulation of photosynthetic carbon assimilation increases CO<inf>2</inf> fixation and biomass yield in tobacco. *J. Exp. Bot.* 66, 4075–4090. doi:10.1093/jxb/erv204.
- Simkin, A. J., McAusland, L., Lawson, T., and Raines, C. A. (2017b). Over-expression of the RieskeFeS protein increases electron transport rates and biomass yield. *Plant Physiol.*, pp.00622.2017. doi:10.1104/pp.17.00622.
- Sonnewald, U., and Fernie, A. R. (2018). Next-generation strategies for understanding and influencing source–sink relations in crop plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2018.01.004.
- Sun, P., Mantri, N., Lou, H., Hu, Y., Sun, D., Zhu, Y., et al. (2012). Effects of elevated CO2 and temperature on yield and fruit quality of strawberry (Fragaria × ananassa Duch.) at two levels of nitrogen application. *PLoS One.* doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041000.
- Timm, S., Florian, A., Arrivault, S., Stitt, M., Fernie, A. R., and Bauwe, H. (2012). Glycine decarboxylase controls photosynthesis and plant growth. *FEBS Lett.* 586, 3692–3697. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2012.08.027.
- Timm, S., Wittmiß, M., Gamlien, S., Ewald, R., Florian, A., Frank, M., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial Dihydrolipoyl Dehydrogenase Activity Shapes Photosynthesis and Photorespiration of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell. doi:10.1105/tpc.15.00105.
- Tuncel, A., and Okita, T. W. (2013). Improving starch yield in cereals by over-expression of ADPglucose pyrophosphorylase: Expectations and unanticipated outcomes. *Plant Sci.* doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2013.06.009.
- Uematsu, K., Suzuki, N., Iwamae, T., Inui, M., and Yukawa, H. (2012). Increased fructose 1,6bisphosphate aldolase in plastids enhances growth and photosynthesis of tobacco plants. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 3001–3009. doi:10.1093/jxb/ers004.
- Ulrich, D., Hoberg, E., Rapp, A., and Kecke, S. (1997). Analysis of strawberry flavour discrimination of aroma types by quantification of volatile compounds. *Zeitschrift fuer Leb. und -forsch. A* 205, 218–223. doi:10.1007/s002170050154.
- United Nations DESA Population Division (2019). World Population Prospects 2019: Data Booklet.
- Wang, S. Y., and Bunce, J. A. (2004). Elevated carbon dioxide affects fruit flavor in field-grown strawberries (Fragaria x ananassa Duch). *J. Sci. Food Agric.* doi:10.1002/jsfa.1824.
- Watson, R. (2002). Influence of harvest date and light integral on the development of strawberry flavour compounds. *J. Exp. Bot.* 53, 2121–2129. doi:10.1093/jxb/erf088.
- Weber, A. P. M., and Bar-Even, A. (2019). Update: Improving the efficiency of photosynthetic carbon reactions. *Plant Physiol.* doi:10.1104/pp.18.01521.
- Yadav, S. K., Khatri, K., Rathore, M. S., and Jha, B. (2018). Introgression of UfCyt c6, a thylakoid lumen protein from a green seaweed Ulva fasciata Delile enhanced photosynthesis and growth in tobacco. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 45, 1745–1758. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-018-4318-1.
- Yan, J. wei, Ban, Z. jun, Lu, H. yan, Li, D., Poverenov, E., Luo, Z. sheng, et al. (2018). The aroma volatile repertoire in strawberry fruit: a review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 98, 4395–4402. doi:10.1002/jsfa.9039.
- Zabetakis, I., and Holden, M. A. (1997). Strawberry flavour: Analysis and biosynthesis. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(199708)74:4<421::AID-JSFA817>3.0.CO;2-6.
- Zhu, X.-G., de Sturler, E., and Long, S. P. (2007). Optimizing the Distribution of Resources between Enzymes of Carbon Metabolism Can Dramatically Increase Photosynthetic Rate: A Numerical Simulation Using an Evolutionary Algorithm. *PLANT Physiol.* 145, 513–526. doi:10.1104/pp.107.103713.
- Zhu, X.-G., Long, S. P., and Ort, D. R. (2010). Improving Photosynthetic Efficiency for Greater Yield. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 61, 235–261. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042809-112206.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Media Recipes

Honey jars ~50ml/jar	Stock	mL L ⁻¹ OR g L ⁻¹
MS with vitamins	Powder	4.4 g
Sucrose	Household sugar	30 g
BAP (6-benzylaminopurine)	1 mg/ml	0.1 mL
IBA (Indole-3-butyric acid)	1 mg/ml	0.1 mL
pH	N/A	pH 5.8
Agar Daishin	Powder	9 g

Appendix 1.1 – SPM Media Recipe and FRAG-R Media Recipe

FRAG-R media recipe: SPM recipe with half concentrations of MS with vits and sucrose

Appendix 1.2 – SMM Media Recipe

Honey jars ~50ml/jar	Stock	mL L ⁻¹ OR g L ⁻¹
MS with vitamins	Powder	4.4 g
Sucrose	Household sugar	30 g
BAP (6-benzylaminopurine)	1 mg/ml	0.5 mL
рН	N/A	pH 5.8
Agar Daishin	Powder	9 g

Appendix 1.3 – SRM Media Recipe

Plates ~25ml/plate	Stock	mL L ⁻¹ OR g L ⁻¹	
MS with vitamins	Powder	4.4 g	
NAA (1-naphthaleneacetic acid)	1 mg mL⁻¹	0.2 mL	
TDZ (Thidiazuron)	1 mg mL⁻¹	1 mL	
Make to 90 % final volume with dH_2O			
рН 5.8	N/A	pH 5.8	
Agargel	Powder	5 g	
After autoclaving add:			
Filter-sterilised glucose solution	30 g 100 mL ⁻¹	100 mL	
For plates with selectable markers add:			
TCA (Ticarcillin/clavulanic acid)	400 mg mL ⁻¹	1 mL	
Kanamycin	50 mg mL ⁻¹	0.5 mL	
Hygromycin	25 mg mL ⁻¹	0.25 mL	
Glufosinate	5 mg mL ⁻¹	0.05 mL	

Component ¹	Volume – 1 sample (µL)	Volume – n samples (μL)
Buffer	1.5	1.5n
dH₂O	12	12n + n
Forward Primer	1	0.1n ²
Reverse Primer	1	0.1n ²
dNTPs	0.3	0.3n
Taq polymerase	0.25	0.25n

Appendix 2 – Master Mix Recipe for Colony PCR

¹Primers at 10 μ g mL⁻¹. ²Minimum primer volume of 1 μ L.

Appendix 3 – Volatile Compounds from Strawberry Fruit

Compound	Present where?
Methyl butanoate	All
Ethyl butanoate	All
2-hexenal	All
Methyl hexanoate	All
Hexenyl acetate	All
Linalool	All
Hexenyl butanoate	All
Hexenol	Fresh and freeze-dried Sweet Eve, fresh Eve's Delight
Ethyl hexanoate	Fresh and freeze-dried Sweet Eve, fresh Eve's Delight
Decalactone	Fresh and freeze-dried Sweet Eve, fresh Eve's Delight
Butyl butanoate	Fresh and freeze dried Eve's Delight, freeze-dried Sweet Eve
Ethyl acetate	Fresh Sweet Eve, Fresh Eve's Delight
Nerolidol	Fresh Sweet Eve, Fresh Eve's Delight
Methyl acetate	Fresh and freeze-dried Eve's Delight
Butyl acetate	Fresh and freeze-dried Eve's Delight
Mesifurane	Fresh and freeze-dried Eve's Delight
2-heptanone	Freeze-dried Sweet Eve
Hexanoic acid	Freeze-dried Sweet Eve
Octanal	Freeze-dried Sweet Eve
Isopentyl acetate	Fresh Eve's Delight
Hexyl acetate	Fresh Eve's Delight
Octyl acetate	Fresh Eve's Delight
2-methylbutyl octanoate	Fresh Eve's Delight

Supplementary Figure 1 – pENTR/D-TOPO Vector Map

Comments for pENTR[™]/D-TOPO[®] 2580 nucleotides GGT rmB T2 transcription termination sequence: bases 268-295 rmB T1 transcription termination sequence: bases 427-470 M13 forward (-20) priming site: bases 537-552 attL1: bases 569-668 (c) TOPO® recognition site 1: bases 680-684 Overhang: bases 685-688 TOPO® recognition site 2: bases 689-693 attL2: bases 705-804 pENTR[™]/D-TOPO[®] T7 Promoter/priming site: bases 821-840 (c) M13 reverse priming site: bases 845-861 2580 bp Kanamycin resistance gene: bases 974-1783 pUC origin: bases 1904-2577 (c) = complementary sequence Kanamyci : bases 268-295

Supplementary Figure 1: Map of pENTR/D-TOPO vector with comments on component parts. Adapted from Invitrogen manual.

Supplementary Figure 2 – Golden Gate Plasmid Maps



Supplementary Figure 2: Plasmid maps of constructs generated by Golden Gate Assembly containing the genes of interest. **A:** pL2B-BAR-p35S-AtSBPase-tNOS. **B:** pL2B-HYG-p35S-AtSBPase-tNOS. **C:** pL2B-HYG-p35S-AtAGPase-tNOS. **D:** pL2B-BAR-pRbcS-AtAGPase-tNOS. **E:** pL2B-HYG-p35S-AtSBPase-p35S-AtAGPase-tNOS. **F:** pL2B-HYG-p35S-AtSBPase-pRbcS-AtAGPase-tNOS.